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WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 
2009 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W. 

Washington, DC 20036 
202 588-0302 

 
 
 
 

June 15, 2007 
 
By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas Abrams, RPh, MBA 
Director  
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re:  NDA # 21-528 
 ACULAR LS® (ketorolac tromethamine ophthalmic solution) 0.4% 
 MACMIS ID # 15238 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On May 25, 2007, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent a warning letter to Allergan, Inc. (Allergan) alleging that a professional journal 
advertisement (4961273) for ACULAR LS® (ketorolac tromethamine ophthalmic solution) 0.4% 
broadens the indication, presents unsubstantiated superiority claims, and omits important risk 
information for ACULAR LS and therefore “misbrands the drug in violation of” sections 502(n) 
and 201(n) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA), 21 U.S.C. §§ 352(a) & 
321(n).  For the reasons discussed below, DDMAC should withdraw the letter.1 
 
Untenable Allegations of Broadened Indication  
 
DDMAC’s contention that the journal advertisement overstates the effectiveness of ACULAR 
LS is factually and legally untenable. 
 
First, DDMAC lacks sufficient support for its interpretation of the journal advertisement.  
According to the warning letter, the “emphasis” of the advertisement on specific aspects of the 
cited study “suggest[]” that the drug is effective in phacoemulsification.  DDMAC cites no data 

                                                 
1 In previous correspondence with you, we have listed all of the previous letters in which we explained our 
objections to DDMAC’s efforts to regulate the content of prescription drug communications.  For the sake of 
brevity, we are discontinuing that practice.  All of the concerns WLF is raising in this letter to you have been raised 
before.   
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corroborating this reading of the advertisement.  DDMAC takes the same tack with other aspects 
of the journal advertisement.  DDMAC interprets “the comparison to Nevanac” as “misleadingly 
impl[ying] that ACULAR LS is approved for use in cataract surgery.”  The warning letter states 
that the claim “#1 Choice Among Ophthalmologists”—read “in the context of the totality of the 
presentation”—implies that ACULAR LS is effective in phacoemulsification.   
 
DDMAC’s interpretations go well beyond the plain language of the advertisement.  Although 
DDMAC is obviously keen to cite the “context of the totality of the presentation” when 
interpreting a statement in a manner that is disadvantageous to the manufacturer, DDMAC is not 
willing to consider context in evaluating whether a particular statement is properly regarded as 
misleading.  As we have repeatedly explained in previous communications with you, such an 
approach does not adequately respect the First Amendment. 
 
Second, DDMAC’s “overstatement of efficacy” allegation takes insufficient account of other 
statements in the advertisement.  Because the complete labeled indication appears in both the 
“creative” part of the advertisement and the accompanying brief summary, it is hard to see how 
anyone reading the advertisement could be misled into believing that ACULAR LS has been 
approved for anything other than the reduction of ocular pain and burning/stinging following 
corneal refractive surgery. 
 
Nor is it plausible that the presentation of clinical data would be misleading to practitioners.  The 
advertisement amply describes the design of the study from which the data were obtained: 
 

Single-center, randomized, double-masked study of 132 patients 
undergoing phacoemulsification.  Patients received either 
ACULAR LS® (ketoroloac tromethamine ophthalmic solution) 
0.4% or Nevanac™ (nepafenac ophthalmic suspension) 0.1% 4 
times daily for 2 days preoperatively plus 4 drops in the 90 minutes 
prior to surgery. 

Moreover, the advertisement expressly disclaims any clinical significance of the penetration 
data.  Nor does the advertisement claim that reduced prostaglandins correlates with any change 
in inflammation, despite DDMAC’s allegation to the contrary.   
 
As noted in previous correspondence with you, it is improper for DDMAC to ascribe to 
promotional pieces claims beyond what could fairly be supported by the words used in those 
pieces.  DDMAC’s approach is exacerbated by its practice of choosing interpretations that could 
not possibly be substantiated by the data cited by the manufacturer.  DDMAC’s approach 
effectively prohibits manufacturers from making statements with which it disagrees.  This is 
contrary to the First Amendment requirement that the government allow the use of disclaimers 
instead of an outright ban if disclaimers would be sufficient to cure any potential of a 
communication to mislead. 
 
DDMAC’s objection to the advertisement’s presentation of data regarding the use of the drug 4 
times daily for 2 days preoperatively along with 4 drops in the 90 minutes before surgery is 
bewildering.  The gravamen of DDMAC’s complaint is that the advertisement claims efficacy 
for ACULAR LS in phacoemulsification—“an entirely new use,” according to DDMAC—based 
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on the results of a clinical study involving subjects having that procedure.  DDMAC does not 
explain how the cited study does not provide sufficient substantiation for a claim of efficacy 
according to that dosing regimen; instead, DDMAC contends merely that the drug is only 
approved for use after surgery.  A lack of specific FDA approval is not tantamount to lack of 
safety or efficacy, as we have explained in previous correspondence.  Nor does the existence of 
precautionary language regarding use of ACULAR LS more than 24 hours before surgery mean 
that the product is ineffective under those circumstances. 
 
Impermissible Ban on the Use of Disclaimers   
 
The warning letter repeatedly contends that the inclusion of qualifying information in the journal 
advertisement is ineffective to cure the asserted potential of particular statements to be 
misleading.  In particular, DDMAC rejects the presentation of the labeled indication for 
ACULAR LS to make clear that the drug is not FDA-approved in phacoemulsification.  
DDMAC also rejects the use of “clinical significance unknown” in conjunction with the 
presentation of penetration data in the advertisement.  Assuming arguendo that the advertisement 
is properly interpreted to claim that ACULAR LS is effective in phacoemulsification, nothing in 
DDMAC’s letter supports the conclusion that these qualifying statements are ineffective in 
assuring that readers of the advertisement are not misled. 
 
To the extent that any statement is potentially misleading, the First Amendment entitles the 
manufacturer to use, and requires DDMAC to accept, disclaimers sufficient to ensure that the 
statement is truthful and non-misleading.  See Pearson v. Shalala, 164 F.3d 650, 657-58 (D.C. 
Cir. 1999), reh’g denied, 172 F.3d 72 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (FDA may not simply ban claims that are 
not supported by “significant scientific agreement,” but must instead consider whether the 
disclaimers will make the claims not misleading).  DDMAC’s uncorroborated conclusion 
regarding Allergan’s disclaimer therefore infringes on Allergan’s First Amendment right to 
disseminate information by not allowing the use of disclaimers to ensure that a statement is non-
misleading. 
 
Problematic Policy of Requiring Double Disclosure of Risk Information 
 
The warning letter is another example of DDMAC’s well-established policy of requiring 
manufacturers to include duplicative risk information in their promotional materials.   DDMAC 
alleges that the journal advertisement is misleading because it “omit[s] the most serious risks and 
common risks associated with the drug.”  This allegation is factually untenable because the 
advertisement contains the very information that DDMAC claims is absent.  Complete risk 
information appears in the brief summary, which is referenced in and attached to the “creative” 
part of the advertisement.  Health care practitioners thus had ready access to the very information 
that DDMAC alleges was omitted, and it was presented in precisely the manner dictated by 
FDA. 
 
DDMAC’s policy of ignoring the brief summary in evaluating whether prescription drug 
advertisements disclose important information, such as risk information and the complete labeled 
indication, effectively requires manufacturers to present this information twice—once in the 
“creative” part and again in the brief summary.  This approach is legally vulnerable, and 
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inconsistent with broader FDA policies.  We have described these deficiencies repeatedly and in 
detail in previous correspondence with you, and in our citizen petition.  See Docket No. 2006P-
0319.   
No Authority to Seek Corrective Advertising 
 
Finally, DDMAC does not have the statutory authority to request that Allergan disseminate 
“corrective” advertising.  The FDCA does not include the authority to request “corrective” 
messages as one of the agency’s enforcement tools.  21 U.S.C. § 331 et seq.  We have previously 
advised DDMAC that its requests for corrective promotional messages are unauthorized, 
unconstitutional, and imprudent, but we have received no response.  We object to DDMAC’s 
continuing policy of requesting that pharmaceutical companies engage in “corrective” messaging 
without pointing to the statutory basis for these requests.  We again request that you address our 
concerns in writing. 
 
Conclusion and Requested Action 
 
We request that DDMAC immediately withdraw the warning letter to Allergan concerning 
ACULAR LS.  We urge DDMAC to cease the issuance of warning and untitled letters and 
advisory correspondence that contain allegations the same as or similar to those described above.       
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  DDMAC 
must ensure that its actions with respect to prescription drug promotion, and to other forms of 
commercial speech, comply with the First Amendment, and do not exceed FDA’s statutory 
authority under the FDCA. 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 

Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 

 
cc:  Sheldon Bradshaw (GCF-1) 


